

## **2022 ACTIVE HEALTHY KIDS**

Hong Kong Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Adolescents with Special Educational Needs

## INTRODUCTION

The Hong Kong Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Adolescents with Special Educational Needs (here after referred to Hong Kong Para Report Card) is an evidence—based synthesis of physical activity behaviors for children and adolescents with special educational needs (SEN) in Hong Kong.

The 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card is the second report card for Hong Kong children and adolescents with SEN. It was developed using a systematic process provided by the Active Healthy Kids Global Alliance (AHKGA; www.activehealthykids.org). The Department of Sports Science and Physical Education of The Chinese University of Hong Kong (CUHK) has played a fundamental role in the development of the 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card, with the collaboration with the Department of Sport, Physical Education and Health of Hong Kong Baptist University, and the Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care of CUHK.

The 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card can be reproduced provided that the following copyright acknowledgement is included:

Information has been obtained from The 2022 Hong Kong Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Adolescents with Special Educational Needs following permission granted from the project leader.

#### **Publication:**

Sit CHP, Huang WYJ, Wong SHS, Wong MCS, Sum RKW, Li VMH. Results and SWOT analysis of the 2022 Hong Kong Report Card on physical activity for children and adolescents with special educational needs. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly 2022*, 40(3):495-503. doi: 10.1123/apaq.2022-0066

## **TEAM**

#### Leader

#### SIT Hui Ping Cindy Ph.D.

Chairperson and Professor Department of Sports Science and Physical Education The Chinese University of Hong Kong

#### Research Work Group HUANG Yajun Wendy Ph.D.

Associate Professor
Department of Sport, Physical Education and Health
Hong Kong Baptist University

#### WONG Heung Sang Stephen Ph.D.

rofessor

Department of Sports Science and Physical Education The Chinese University of Hong Kong

#### WONG Chi Sang Martin M.D.

Professor

Jockey Club School of Public Health and Primary Care The Chinese University of Hong Kong

#### SUM Kim Wai Raymond Ed.D.

Associate Professor

Department of Sports Science and Physical Education The Chinese University of Hong Kong

#### LI Minghui Venus Ph.D.

Research Associate (until August 31, 2022)
Department of Sports Science and Physical Education
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

#### **Project Assistant**

#### Sui Jinghao M.Sc.

Research Assistant

Department of Sports Science and Physical Education The Chinese University of Hong Kong

## CONTENTS

- Para Report Card Development Team
- What is the 'Hong Kong Para Report Card'?
- Physical Inactivity among Children and Adolescents with SEN: Global and Local Situations
- Guidelines on Physical Activity for Children and Adolescents with SEN
- Methodology
- Indicators
  - 1. Overall Physical Activity
  - 2. Organized Sport Participation
  - 3. Active Play
  - 4. Active Transportation
  - 5. Sedentary Behaviors
  - 6. Family & Peers
  - 7. School
  - 8. Community & Environment
  - 9. Government Strategies & Investments
- Comparison of the Grade Assignment for 2019 and 2022 Hong Kong Children and Adolescents with SEN
- Abbreviations
- List of Stakeholders
- References
- Acknowledgement



## What is the 'Hong Kong Para Report Card'?

The Hong Kong Para Report Card provides an evidence—based synthesis of physical activity behaviors and associated influencing factors in children and adolescents with special educational needs (SEN) in Hong Kong. The Hong Kong Para Report Card aims to consolidate existing evidence, facilitate international comparisons, encourage evidence—informed physical activity and health policies, improve surveillance of physical activity, and facilitate opportunities for physical activity among children and adolescents with SEN. Following its debut in 2019, the 2022 edition marks the second Hong Kong Para Report Card specifically tailored for children and adolescents with SEN in the region.

Adopting a systematic approach provided by the AHKGA, the 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card evaluates the most pertinent evidence across nine indicators regarding the physical activity of children and adolescents with SEN. These indicators encompass Overall Physical Activity and its elements, including Organized Sport Participation, Active Play, Active Transportation, and Sedentary Behaviors, alongside influential settings and sources related to physical activity participation, including Family & Peers, School, Community & Environment, and Government Strategies & Investments. The evidence is evaluated and interpreted by an expert consensus panel (research work group, RWG), resulting in the assignment of a letter "grade" for each indicator.

The target population for the 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card is the children and adolescents aged 6-17 who have SEN (i.e., hearing impairment [HI], visual impair ment [VI], physical disability [PD], intellectual disability [ID], attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder [ADHD], autism spectrum disorders [ASD], speech and language impairments, specific learning difficulties [SpLD], mental illness, and social development issues). This is consistent with the SEN definition provided by the HKSAR government. It is also noted that a dual-track mode is adopted for special education in Hong Kong. Students with SEN may attend regular schools, while those with more severe or multiple disabilities could be referred to special schools for intensive support services. Since 2021, the HKSAR government has launched a one-stop website "SENSE", which aims at supporting students with SEN. The latest information and online resources related to integrated education and special education in Hong Kong can be accessed at: sense.edb.gov.hk.

Following the 2019 Hong Kong Para Report Card, the 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card provides an updated evidence—based assessment that helps inform research and practice. The indicators of the Para Report Card provide a comprehensive assessment of physical activity for children and adolescents with SEN, which allow for cross—cultural comparisons and temporal trend analysis.

# Physical Inactivity among Children and Adolescents with SEN: Global and Local Situations

It was estimated that more than 1.5 billion people live with some form of disability, and approximately 240 million of them are children and adolescents.¹ Disability is a global public health issue and the total burden of disability associated with non-communicable diseases (NCDs) has increased by 52% over the past three decades.² Physical inactivity is associated with premature mortality from NCDs and huge global healthcare costs.³ The World Health Organization (WHO) Global Disability Action Plan 2014–2021 indicates that the burden of disability can be lessened by addressing reduced physical inactivity.⁴

Despite the known health benefits of physical activity that can lessen disability and the associated secondary or chronic conditions, evidence indicates that people living with disabilities are 16% to 62% less likely to meet the physical activity guidelines and face more barriers to physical activity participation than those with typical development.<sup>5</sup> The situation is further intensified by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>6</sup> It is therefore imper-

ative to empower persons with disabilities, including children and adolescents with SEN, to be physically active so as to gain health benefits.

It appears that few national, regional, or global surveil-lance systems collect data from people with disabilities or report data by disaggregation on disability status.<sup>5,7</sup> There is a call to action to overcome this knowledge gap by establishing surveillance systems that can help researchers and policymakers to monitor the current state of physical activity among children and adolescents with SEN.<sup>8</sup> In line with the WHO and the United Nations Conventions on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities and on the Rights of the Child, effective interventions are needed to meet the WHO recommendations and the United Nations Sustainable Developmental Goals (SDGs), including good health and well-being (SDG3) and reduced inequalities (SDG10) in children and adolescents with SEN.<sup>9</sup>



## Guidelines on Physical Activity for Children and Adolescents with SEN

In November 2020, the WHO<sup>10</sup> released the Guidelines on Physical Activity and Sedentary Behavior, which emphasized the importance of physical activity for specific groups and the general population. The guidelines carry forward the ethos of "Every Move Counts" and "Let's be Active, Everyone, Everywhere, Everyday". More importantly, in addressing children and adolescents living with disabilities, the guidelines provide tailored recommendations:

- Do at least an average of 60 minutes per day of moderate-to-vigorous intensity, mostly aerobic, physical activity, throughout the week.
- Incorporate vigorous-intensity aerobic activities, as well as those that strengthen muscle and bone, at least 3 days a week.
- Limit the amount of time spent being sedentary, particularly the amount of recreational screen time.

## **Methodology**

#### **Evidence Search and Synthesis**

The systematic development process of a report card provided by AHKGA was used. The **2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card** consists of nine indicators including Overall Physical Activity and its subcomponents (Organized Sport Participation, Active Play, Active Transportation, and Sedentary Behaviors) that have a known impact on physical activity participation (Family & Peers, School, Community & Environment, and Government Strategies & Investments).

A comprehensive search of the most recent academic and non-academic literature on each indicator was conducted, including published journal articles, local relevant journals, governmental and organizational reports (including completion reports of funded grants), as well as personal sharing.

Inclusion criteria were (1) the target population was Hong Kong children and adolescents (6–17 years) with SEN; (2) relevant to at least one of the indicators; and (3) representative sample (e.g., diversity of disability types, sample size). The best available data from January 2012 to December 2021 were consolidated and reviewed by the RWG. The search yielded 41 sources of evidence.

#### **Grading Scheme**

The RWG considered which source was the most appropriate for grading and considered: (1) characteristics of the sample (e.g., how recent/representative/relevant was the sample on which the measure was based?); and (2) measurement of the indicators (e.g., was there any evidence that the measurement was relatively unbiased such as the use of validated questionnaires and objective measures such as accelerometer?). Out of the 41 sources of evidence that the search brought forth, 16 were chosen to assign preliminary letter grades for indicators, keeping predefined international benchmarks as a reference point (details are provided in "indicators").

The letter grades were assigned based on the proportion of children and adolescents with SEN meeting the predefined benchmark(s) for each indicator (details of benchmarks are shown in "Summary of the benchmark of all indicators"). A notable change in the Global Matrix 4.0 is the introduction of annotations to the grades: adding "\*" to a grade indicates it is based on mixed data, both device—measured and self—reported, while adding "\*\*" specifies the grade is exclusively based on device—measured data.



During 2021–2022, the RWG held two meetings to assess sources of evidence and assign initial letter grades to the nine indicators. An online platform was set up to solicit views and comments on initial letter grades from 50 stakeholders, including representatives of schools, higher education institutions, national sports associations, professional organizations and non–governmental organizations, between March and April 2022. Approximately 95% of stakeholder members who offered written feedback concurred with the initial grades, with consensus on individual grades spanning between 88% and 100%.

## **Indicators**

In the 2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card, nine indicators related to physical activity were evaluated including Overall Physical Activity and its subcomponents (Organized Sport Participation, Active play, Active Transportation, and Sedentary Behaviors), and settings and sources of influence (Family & Peers, School, Community & Environment, and Government Strategies & Investments).

#### Summary of the benchmark of all indicators

## Overall Physical Activity





% of children and adolescents with disabilities who meet the physical activity guideline of 60 minutes of MVPA daily

## Organized Sport Participation





% of children and adolescents who participate in organized sport at least once per week

#### **Active Play**





% of children and adolescents who participate in nonorganized sport at least once per week

## Active Transportation





% of children and adolescents who use active transportation

## **Sedentary Behaviors**





% of children and adolescents who sit continuously less than 60 min/day

## **Indicators**

#### **Family & Peers**





% of parents who facilitate physical activity and sport opportunities for children and adolescents

% of friends/peers who encourage and support physical activity for children and adolescents

#### School





% of schools where the majority of students are offered at least 70  $\,$  min of PE per week

% of schools with students who have regular access to facilities and equipment that support physical activity

% of schools that offer PA opportunities to the majority of their students in addition to PE

## Community & Environment





% of communities/municipalities that report they have infrastructure specifically geared toward promoting physical activity

## Government Strategies & Investments







Allocate funds and resources for implementation of physical activity promotion strategies

Demonstrate policy-making progress

a "\*" is added to the grade if it is based on mixed data: device-measured and self-reported.

a "\*\*" is added to the grade if it is based on device-measured data exclusively.

### **Grades**

## Overall Physical Activity

2022 Grade: F\* (12.3%)

2019 Grade: F

#### **Benchmark**

Percentage of children and adolescents who meet the physical activity guideline of 60 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) daily

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- It is the first time that this indicator was graded derived from mixed data sources (i.e., device—measured data and self—report data).
- Among the four included references, one reporting data source was newly added.<sup>16</sup>

#### Major gaps and recommendations

- Only one new reporting source was located, which was not reported in the 2019 Para Report Card.
- Significant variability exists among sub-groups, with children having different disabilities showing different rates of adherence to the physical activity guidelines.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Organize awareness campaigns targeting different stake holders including school teachers and parents to support children with SEN to be physically active.
- Strengthen partnerships among schools, sports organizations, NGOs, and SEN advocacy groups to create more physical activity opportunities for children with SEN.

#### **Key Findings**

Four sources of evidence met the benchmark for this indicator. Three studies utilized objective accelerometers as the measurement tool, 11-16 while another study used a self-report questionnaire. 17 This indicator was graded based on 12.3% of children and adolescents with SEN meeting the benchmark.

- 0.2% of children with five disability types (mean age=13.04±4.45 years) accumulated at least 60 minutes of MVPA daily based on valid device-measured data (n=259). 11,12
- 2.7% of children with developmental coordination disorder aged 6–10 years met the benchmark based on valid device-measured data (n=88).<sup>13–15</sup>
- 40.2% of children with ID (mean age=12.8±2.8 years) met the benchmark based on the baseline data of a non-ran-domized intervention (n=203).<sup>16</sup>
- 6.1% children with ID (mean age=12.1±3.9 years) met the benchmark based on self-reported data (n=524).<sup>17</sup>

It is worth noting that four additional data sources were not included for grading due to not aligning the bench—mark, including the limitations in specifying total MVPA time and irrelevance to overall physical activity level. 18-21

## 2 Organized Sport Participation

2022 Grade: INC 2019 Grade: INC

#### **Benchmark**

Percentage of children and adolescents who participate in organized sport at least once per week

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- Ten data sources including four studies and six annual school reports were newly added,<sup>12, 16, 22–29</sup> with the latter representing an updated continuation from data initially introduced in the 2019 Para Report Card.
- Due to the outbreak and prevention policy of COVID-19, several organized sports mentioned in the data were conducted online.<sup>24,25</sup>

Due to limited evidence including not aligning with the benchmark and focusing on a specific type of SEN, this indicator was the same as in the 2019 Para Report Card.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Provide extracurricular and community-based programs for children and adolescents with SEN based on their developmental needs and interests.
- Implement training programs for coaches and instructors to effectively support and engage children and adolescents with SEN in organized sports.

#### **Key Findings**

Ten significant data sources were located, which included four studies and six annual school reports. Among four studies, one study examined physical activity during school time and break intervals for children with SEN, but it did not meet the benchmark.<sup>12</sup>

- Three studies reported organized sports participation in children with a specific type of SEN, leading to the lack of specificity in the sports involved.<sup>16,22,23</sup>
- Additionally, school reports came from six special schools for students with ID.<sup>24–29</sup> Given the constraints across the data obtained, this indicator could not be graded.

- Some data sources were available for this indicator. However, the outcome measures did not align with the benchmark.
- While some annual reports from special schools were analyzed, the focus was primarily on a single disability type.



2022 Grade: INC 2019 Grade: INC

#### **Benchmark**

Percentage of children and adolescents who participate in organized sport at least once per week

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- A new data source was included.<sup>12</sup>
- Due to limited evidence aligning with the benchmark, this indicator remained the same as in the 2019 Para Report Card.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Educate parents, caregivers, and educators on the importance of active play for children and adolescents with SEN and provide them with strategies to encourage and facilitate such activities.
- Design and implement inclusive play areas in schools and communities that are accessible to children and adoles—cents with SEN, thereby fostering an environment conducive to active play.

#### **Key Findings**

Three studies were identified to explore leisure activities or physical activity in unstructured school settings among children and adolescents with SEN.<sup>11,12,21</sup>

Although these studies provided valuable insights into their physical activity patterns, the outcome measures did not align with the benchmark, making it difficult to assign a grade to this indicator.

- There is a lack of clarity in studies regarding a clear definition and time allocated to "active play" among children and adolescents with SEN.
- Standardizing a definition for active play, perhaps as fun, unstructured, and freely chosen activities, would enhance the comparability and utility of studies.





2022 Grade: D-(23.8%)

2019 Grade: INC

#### **Benchmark**

Percentage of children and adolescents who use active transportation

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

This indicator was graded for the first time due to the inclusion of a new data source that aligned with the benchmark.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Enhance the safety and accessibility of walking and cycling routes to and from schools and community centers, specifically tailored for children and adolescents with SEN.
- Encourage parents and caregivers to facilitate and accompany children and adolescents with SEN in active commuting methods like walking or cycling.

#### **Key Findings**

The grading was based on active transportation among students with disabilities from the Census and Statistics Department.<sup>30</sup>

- 23.8% (16,500 of 69,400) of students with seven SEN types (PD, HI, VI, speech difficulty, mental illness/mood disorder, ASD, and ADHD) walked to their schools or training centers.
- Another study was considered but did not contribute to the grading as it focused on the active transportation habits of children with a single type of SEN.<sup>17</sup>

#### Major gaps and recommendations

Active transportation was limited to school communing. It is suggested that research could move beyond school-centric travel, encompassing active transportation patterns of children and adolescents with SEN to various destinations, especially during non-school hours.

## Sedentary Behaviors

2022 Grade: D\*\* (29.3%)

2019 Grade: D+

#### **Benchmark**

- Percentage of children and adolescents who sit continuously <60 min/day</li>
- This indicator underwent some changes. The benchmark diverged from the one used in the 2022 Hong Kong Report Card<sup>31</sup> and the Global Matrix 4.0.<sup>32</sup>, primarily due to the lack of data on screen-based sedentary behaviors for children and adolescents with SEN in Hong Kong and the prevailing guidelines advocating for minimizing prolonged sitting durations.<sup>33</sup>

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- Two new data sources<sup>13,16</sup> were considered, with one being included in the grading.<sup>16</sup>
- Compared to 2019, approximately 5.7% fewer children and adolescents with SEN met the benchmark, resulting in a downgrade trend.
- The grading was based on device—measured data. Double asterisks ("\*\*") were assigned to the grade.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Develop and implement school policies that limit excessive screen time and promote regular physical activity breaks throughout the day.
- Encourage the use of adaptive and interactive technology that promotes physical activity, especially for children and adolescents with SEN who may have limited mobility.

#### **Key Findings**

Three data sources using accelerometer data indicated that, on average, about 29.3% of children and adolescents with SEN met the benchmark.

- 25.3% (50 of 198) of 6- to 23-year-olds with five SEN types (PD, VI, HI, ID, social development issues) did not have any prolonged sitting periods (i.e., one hour at a time).<sup>11</sup>
- 43.8% (32 of 73) of 6- to 10-year-olds with developmental coordination disorder did not have any prolonged sitting periods.<sup>13-15</sup>
- 18.9% (21 of 111) of students with ID did not have any prolonged sitting periods.<sup>16</sup>

Three other relevant data were located but not incorporated into the grading because their methods or outcome measures did not align with the benchmark. 12,17,21

- No data are available about screen-based sedentary behaviors in children and adolescents with SEN in Hong Kong. This grade may not be comparable with that assigned for children and adolescents with typical development.
- There is a need on the dose–response relationship between the amount and types of sedentary behaviors and health outcomes in children and adolescents with SEN.



2022 Grade: INC 2019 Grade: INC

#### **Benchmark**

- Percentage of parents who facilitate physical activity and sport opportunities for children and adolescents
- Percentage of friends/peers who encourage and support physical activity for children and adolescents

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- A new data source was included.<sup>34</sup>
- Due to limited evidence that aligned with the benchmark, this indicator remained the same as in the 2019 Para Report Card.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Foster peer mentorship and buddy systems in school and community settings, where children and adolescents with SEN engage in physical activity alongside their peers with typical development.
- Develop family—centered physical activity programs that encourage active participation and support from family members, thereby creating a more inclusive and support—ive environment for children and adolescents with SEN to be physically active.

#### **Key Findings**

Two data sources were located for this indicator.

- The first source was a direct observation study of 147 children with PD (mean age=13.5±2.5 years), focusing on the total MVPA time and the percentage of family or peer support.<sup>21</sup> However, it did not specify the nature of family or peer support.
- The second study involved 14 children with ADHD (mean age=7.36 years) and their parents.<sup>34</sup> It did not examine the family influence on children's physical activity and thus did not align with the benchmark.

As such, this indicator was not graded.

- Current research on the influence of family and peers on physical activity among children and adolescents with SEN is limited. Existing studies provide preliminary insights, but their scope is narrow and specific to certain SEN types.
- Comprehensive evaluation of different sources and types of social support is necessary to gain a holistic understanding of the roles of family and peers in promoting physical activity for children and adolescents with SEN.

## School 2022 Grade: INC 2019 Grade: B

#### **Benchmark**

- Percentage of schools where the majority of students are offered at least 70 min of PE per week
- Percentage of schools with students who have regular access to facilities and equipment that support Physical activity
- Percentage of schools that offer physical activity opportunities to the majority of their students in addition to PE

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- Six data sources from different school reports were added.<sup>29,35–39</sup>
- Due to limited evidence that aligned with the benchmark and the exclusion of data sources referenced in the 2019 Para Report Card, this indicator was not graded in the current report card.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Integrate inclusive and adaptive physical education curricula in schools that cater for the diverse needs of students with SEN.
- Foster a school culture that values and promotes physical activity for all students, including those with SEN, through regular events, campaigns, and inclusive sports teams.

#### **Key Findings**

Multiple data sources including school annual reports were identified regarding the provision of physical activity in schools for children and adolescents with SEN.<sup>29,35-39</sup> However, some details, such as the total PE hours, were not provided.

As the sources did not align with the benchmark, they were excluded for grading.

- A major challenge identified is inconsistent reporting standards across special schools. While the special schools have made commendable efforts in promoting physical activity among children and adolescents with SEN, the varied nature of data available in their annual reports makes it challenging to have a universal grading system.
- In addition to special school reports, mainstream school reports could be explored.

## Community & Environment

2022 Grade: INC 2019 Grade: INC

#### **Benchmark**

Percentage of communities/municipalities that report they have infrastructure specifically geared toward promoting physical activity

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- Two new data sources were included. 40,41
- Due to limited evidence that aligned with the benchmark, this indicator remained the same as in the 2019 Para Report Card.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Raise awareness within communities about the importance of creating inclusive environments and promote active participation of children with SEN in community activities.
- Enhance accessibility and inclusivity of public parks, playgrounds, and recreational areas to ensure they are well-equipped to meet the needs of children and adolescents with SEN.

#### **Key Findings**

Evidence for the grade assignment of this indicator was limited. Two data sources that evaluated the accessibility of physical activity facilities in the community were located. However, these sources did not document the proportion of communities or municipalities with infrastructure specifically designed to promote physical activity for children and adolescents with SEN.

- There is a knowledge gap concerning the impacts of community and environment on physical activity of children and adolescents with SEN in Hong Kong.
- Research on the infrastructure that supports physical activity for children and adolescents with SEN is recommended.



## Government Strategies & Investments

2022 Grade: C+ 2019 Grade: C-

#### **Benchmark**

- Evidence of leadership and commitment in providing physical activity opportunities
- Allocated funds and resources for the implementation of physical activity promotion
- Demonstrate policy making progress

#### What's New in the 2022 Para Report Card

- Twelve new data sources from various government departments were included, with eight of them contributing to the grading. 42-44,46-54
- There was an improvement from a C- in 2019 to a C+ in the current assessment. This change reflected the introduction to new initiatives and reinforced policies aimed at enhancing physical activity and sports participation among children and adolescents with SEN.

#### **Key Findings(1)**

Three departments of the HKSAR Government, namely the Leisure and Cultural Services Department (LCSD), the Home Affairs Bureau (HAB), and the Education Bureau (EDB), have implemented strategic policies and initiatives to support and facilitate physical activity and sports participation in children and adolescents with SEN.

- The LCSD of Hong Kong launched a series of initiatives to support persons with disabilities and their carers:
  - The department offers half-rate concessions to PWDs and their carers, enabling them to participate in various sports programs. 42,45
  - Free-of-charge sports training programs are provided for PWDs, accompanied by the introduction of a one-stop website for relevant information.<sup>43</sup>
  - The LCSD has expanded the School Sports Programs for Special Schools by increasing both the types of sports
    offered and the total hours of training.<sup>46</sup>
  - For the estimates of expenditure in 2020–2021 by LCSD, overall expenditure on sports development and activities between 2015 and 2020 ranged from HK\$20.8 million to HK\$35.2 million, of which the proportion allocated specifically to persons with disabilities was 4.9% in 2015–2016, 4.9% in 2016–2017, 4.2% in 2017–2018, 5.4% in 2018–2019, and 6.0% in 2019–2020.<sup>54</sup>

The HAB has been proactive in fostering sports inclusivity for persons with disabilities. As part of their Sports Policy 2021, the HAB launched pilot sports training programs benefiting around 430 persons with disabilities. They introduced 110 customized programs, reaching about 5,300 special school students. The Bureau also organized events for persons with disabilities during the Hong Kong Games, emphasizing their dedication to inclusivity.44

The EDB updated the Physical Education Key Learning Area Curriculum Guide, from Primary 1 to Secondary 6, emphasizing equal educational opportunities for children and adolescents with SEN to actively participate in PE.49

Both the HAB and EDB have collaboratively advanced to promoting physical activity and sports inclusivity among students with SEN:

- The partnership manifested in the form of the Opening up School Facilities for Promotion of Sports Development Scheme since 2017–2018. This scheme not only opened doors for increased participation but also augmented the upper limit of subsidy for participating schools. As part of their ongoing efforts, they also expanded the list of eligible sports organizations.48
- The "Active Students, Active People" Campaign was jointly promoted by both bureaus. The primary goal of this campaign was to motivate children in special schools to achieve the MVPA 60 guideline, reinforcing the importance of an active lifestyle.50

Several located evidence did not meet the benchmark because, despite detailing various initiatives and programs by LCSD and other departments, there was a lack of specific information or emphasis on children and adolescents with SEN.47,51-53

#### Major gaps and recommendations

- Government is committed to providing physical activity opportunities and resources for the implementation of physical activity programs for persons with disabilities. More efforts in developing physical activity promotion strategies for children and adolescents with SEN are recommended.
- Prioritizing and maintaining research initiatives that assess the impact of physical activity programs in children and adolescents with SEN in Hong Kong are recommended.

#### Top priorities to improve the grade

- Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of existing physical activity programs and strategies to inform future investments and policy decisions.
- Increase funding and allocate specific budgets for developing and implementing physical activity programs tailored for children and adolescents with SEN.



## Comparison of the Grade Assignments for the 2019 and the 2022 Hong Kong Report Card on Physical Activity for Children and Adolescents with SEN

Indicators	Children and adolescents with SEN (2022)	Children and adolescents with SEN (2019)
Overall Physical Activity	F*	F
Organized Sport Participation	INC	INC
Active Play	INC	INC
Active Transportation	D-	INC
Sedentary Behaviors	D**	D+
Family & Peers	INC	INC
School	INC	В
Community & Environment	INC	INC
Government Strategies & Investments	C+	C-

In the 2022 Report Card only: a "\*" is added to the grade if it is based on mixed data: device-measured and self-reported; a "\*\*" is added to the grade if it is based on device-measured data exclusively.

The table provides a comparative overview of grade assignments for Hong Kong children and adolescents with SEN between 2019 and 2022. Compared with the 2019 Para Report Card, there were deteriorating trends in overall physical activity and sedentary behaviors. Similarly, more than half of the indicators were not graded due to lack of data or misalignment with the benchmarks. There is a pressing need to foster the school—family—government cross—sector collaborations and establish an evaluation system to enhance physical activity surveillance.



## **ABBREVIATIONS**

ADHD	Attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder	PD	Physical disability
AHKGA	Active Healthy Kids Global Alliance	PE	Physical education
ASD	Autism spectrum disorders	RWG	Research work group
HI	Hearing impairment	SEN	Special educational needs
HKSAR	Hong Kong Special Administrative Region	SpLD	Specific learning difficulties
ID	Intellectual disability	TD	Typical development
INC	Incomplete data	VI	Visual impairment
MVPA	Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity	WHO	World Health Organization



### LIST OF STAKEHOLDERS

### (in alphabetical order)

#### Mr. CHAN Ching Yat Roy

Department of Health and Physical Education, The Education University of Hong Kong

#### Ms. Joyce CHAN

Kowloon Centre,
Bridges Street Centre cum Recreation & Sport Services,
The Chinese YMCA of Hong Kong

#### Mr. CHENG Chung Lam

Tsuen Wan Public Ho Chuen Yiu Memorial College

#### Mr. CHEUNG Chi Yu

Hong Kong Red Cross Margaret Trench School

#### Dr. CHOI Hiu Nam Peggy

Department of Sports and Recreation Management,
Technological & Higher Education Institute of Hong Kong

#### Prof. CHOW Bik Chu

Department of Sport, Physical Education and Health, Hong Kong Baptist University

#### Dr. CHOW Chun Bong

Playright Children's Play Association

#### Principal Alex CHUIN Chi Wai

Hong Kong Red Cross Margaret Trench School

#### Dr. CHUNG Wai Man

SMART1 Orthopaedics – Sports Medicine – Rehabilitation Centre

#### Dr. FOK Chun Wing Daniel

Hong Chi Morninghill School, Tsui Lam

#### Ms. FUNG Ka Wing

Hong Chi Morningjoy School, Yuen Long

#### Principal FUNG Man Yi Wendy

Ka Ling School of The Precious Blood

#### Ms. Lesley FUNG

Sports Association for the Physically Disabled of Hong Kong, China

#### Dr. GAO Yang Gemma

Department of Sport,
Physical Education and Health,
Hong Kong Baptist University

#### Prof. HA Sau Ching Amy

Department of Sports Science and Physical Education, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

#### Principal HUI Ka Yan

Lutheran School For The Deaf

#### Mr. KAN Wai Fu Michael

Education Bureau

#### Ms. KONG Ka Wai Judy

InspiringHK Sports Foundation

#### Principal KWOK Sze Wing

Caritas Resurrection School

#### Principal LAI Fung Bo

SAHK Ko Fook Lu Memorial School

#### Ms. LAM Fung Yin Olivia

Sports Association for the Physically Disabled of Hong Kong, China

#### Principal LAM Ka Yi

Evangelize China Fellowship Holy Word School

#### Principal LAM Kwok Wai

Po Leung Kuk Yu Lee Mo Fan Memorial School

#### Prof. LAU Chak Sing

Li Ka Shing Faculty of Medicine, The University of Hong Kong

#### Dr. LAU Shing Chi Steve

Department of Paediatrics, Union Hospital

### LIST OF STAKEHOLDERS

### (in alphabetical order)

Ms. LAU PH Beverley

Hong Kong Physiotherapy Association

Prof. LAU Wing Chung Patrick

Department of Sport, Physical Education and Health, Hong Kong Baptist University

Dr. Andes LEUNG

RunOurCity Foundation

Dr. LEUNG Fung Lin Elean

Physical Education Unit, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Principal George LEUNG

Hong Kong Special Schools Council, TWGHs Kwan Fong Kai Chi School

Ms. Mabel LO

**TREATS** 

Dr. LOUIE Hung Tak Lobo

Department of Health and Physical Education, The Education University of Hong Kong (until August 31, 2021)

Ms MA Ka Wai

TWGHs Kwan Fong Kai Chi School

Principal NG Ching Kong

Stewards Pooi Kei Primary School

Mr. Roger NGAN

Hong Kong Blind Sports Federation

Principal SHEK Wai Keung

Hong Chi Shiu Pong Morninghope School

Principal SHUM Lap Ping

Fortress Hill Methodist Secondary School

Prof. SIN Kuen Fung Kenneth

Centre for Special Educational Needs and Inclusive Education, The Education University of Hong Kong

Ms. SO Wai Man

SAHK Ko Fook lu Memorial School

Prof. SO Wing Chee Catherine

Department of Educational Psychology, The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Principal SUEN Yau Man

SAHK Jockey Club Elaine Field School

Dr. TSE Choi Yeung Andy

Department of Health and Physical Education, The Education University of Hong Kong Prof. WONG Kam Yuet Frances

Faculty of Health & Social Sciences,
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Dr. WONG Wing Sum Sam

Physical Fitness Association of Hong Kong, China

Mr. WU Tat Cheung Clement

Physical Education Unit,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Prof. YANG Yijian

Department of Sports Science and Physical Education,
The Chinese University of Hong Kong

Dr. Nelson YIP

Unleash Foundation

Mr. YIU Yik Ming Edmond

Culture, Sports and Arts Division, Hong Kong Playground Association

Dr. Clare YU

Department of Rehabilitation Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Mr. YUEN Hon Lam Joseph

Community Service Division, Tung Wah Group of Hospitals

As at April 30, 2022

United Nations Children's Fund. 2021. Seen, counted, included: Using data to shed light on the well-being of children with disabilities. UNICEF, New York.

Institute for Health Metrics & Evaluation. Findings from the global burden of disease study 2017. Seattle, WA: IHME, 2018.

Ding, D., Lawson, K. D., Kolbe-Alexander, T. L., Finkelstein, E. A., Katzmarzyk, P. T., van Mechelen, W., Pratt, M. et al. The economic burden of physical inactivity: A global analysis of major non-communicable diseases. *Lancet*. 2016;388:1311-24.

World Health Organization. *WHO global disability action plan 2014-2021: Better health for all people with disability.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2015.

Martin Ginis, K. A., van der Ploeg, H. P., Foster, C., Lai, B., McBride, C. B., Ng, K., Pratt, M., Shirazipour, C. H., Smith, B., Vasquez, P. M., Heath, G. W. Participation of people living with disabilities in physical activity: A global perspective. *Lancet* 2021;398:443-455.

Theis, N., Campbell, N., Leeuw, J. D., Owen, M., Schenke, K. C. The effects of COVID-19 restrictions on physical activity and mental health of children and young adults with physical and/or intellectual disabilities. *Disability and Health Journal*. 2021; 14:101064.

Ng, K., Sit, C., Arbour-Nicitopoulos, K., Aubert, S., Stanish, H., Hutzler, Y., Santos Silva, D. A., Kang, M., López-Gil, J. F., Lee, E., Asunta, P., Pozeriene, J., Urbański, P. K., Aguilar-Farias, N., Reilly, J. J., Global matrix of para report cards on physical activity of children and adolescents with disabilities. *Adapted Physical Activity Quarterly*. 2023; 40(3), 409-430. doi: 10.1123/apaq.2022-0111

Sit, C. H. P., Aubert, S., Carty, C., Silva, D. A. S., López-Gil, J. F., Asunta, P., Palad, Y., Guisihan, R., Lee, J., Arbour Nicitopoulos, K. P., Vanderloo, L. M., Stanish, H., Haegele, J., Urbański, P. K., Pozeriene, J., Hutzler, Y., Ng, K. Promoting physical activity among children and adolescents with disabilities: The translation of policy to practice internationally. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health.* 2022;19(11):758-768. doi: 10.1123/Jpah.2022-0351

Carty, C., van der Ploeg, H. P., Biddle, S. J., Bull, F., Willumsen, J., Lee, L., Kamenov, K., Milton, K. The first global physical activity and sedentary behavior guidelines for people living with disability. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*. 2021; 18(1), 86-93. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2020-0629

World Health Organization. WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. https://iris.who.int/bitstream/han-dle/10665/336656/9789240015128-eng.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Sit, C. H. P., Mckenzie, T. L., Cerin, E., Chow, B. C., Huang, W. Y., Yu, J. Physical activity and sedentary time among children with disabilities at school. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*. 2017; 49(2), 292-297. doi: 10.1249/MSS.000000000001097

Sit, C. H. P., Huang, W. Y., Yu, J. J., & McKenzie, T. L. Accelerometer-assessed physical activity and sedentary time at school for children with disabilities: Seasonal variation. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health.* 2019; 16(17). doi: 10.3390/i-jerph16173163

Sit, C. H. P., Masters, R. S., Abernethy, B., Capio, C. M., Ha, A. S. Yu, J. Physical activity and fundamental movement skills in children with developmental coordination disorder. *Project final report of the Health and Medical Research Fund.* Health Bureau. 2019.

Sit, C. H., Yu, J. J., Wong, S. H., Capio, C. M., Masters, R. A school-based physical activity intervention for children with developmental coordination disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 2019; 89, 1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2019.03.004

- Yu, J. J., Capio, C. M., Abernethy, B., Sit, C. H. P. Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity and sedentary behavior in children with and without developmental coordination disorder: Associations with fundamental movement skills. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*. 2021; 118. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2021.104070
- Lau, P. W., Wang, G., Wang, J. J. Effectiveness of active video game usage on body composition, physical activity level and motor proficiency in children with intellectual disability. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities*. 2020; 33(6), 1465-1477. doi: 10.1111/jar.12774 Wang, J. J., Gao, Y., Kwok, H., Huang, W. Y., Li. S. Li, L. P. Children with intellectual disability are vulnerable to overweight and obesity: A cross-sectional study among Chinese children. *Childhood Obesity*. 2018; 14(5), 316-326. doi: 10.1089/chi.2018.0015
- Yu, J. J., Tsai, C. L., Pan, C. Y., Li, R., Sit, C. H. P. The relationship between physical activity and inhibition in children with and without motor impairments. *Journal of Physical Activity & Health*. 2020; 17(11), 1118-1124. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2020-0091
- Fong, S. S. M., Vackova, D., Choi, A. W. M., Cheng, Y. T. Y., Yam, T. T. T., Guo, X. Diversity of activity participation determines bone mineral content in the lower limbs of pre-pubertal children with developmental coordination disorder. *Osteoporosis International*. 2018; 29(4), 917-925. doi: 10.1007/s00198-017-4361-0
- Fong, S. S., Chung, J. W., Cheng, Y. T., Yam, T. T., Chiu, H. C., Fong, D. Y., ... Macfarlane, D. J. Attention during functional tasks is associated with motor performance in children with developmental coordination disorder: A cross-sectional study. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2016; 95(37), e4935. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000004935
- Sit, C., Li, R., McKenzie, T. L., Cerin, E., Wong, S., Sum, R., Leung, E. Physical activity of children with physical disabilities: associations with environmental and behavioural variables at home and school. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health.* 2019; 16 (8), 1394. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16081394
- Wong, M. Y. C., Leung K. M. Effects of sitting light volleyball intervention on physical fitness among Hong Kong students with physical disabilities: A pilot quasi-experimental study. *Asian Journal of Sports Medicine*. 2020; 11(1), 1-8. doi: 10.5812/asjsm.98225
- Tse, C. Y. A., Lee, H. P., Chan, K. S. K., Edgar, V. B., Wilkinson-Smith, A., Lai, W. H. E. Examining the impact of physical activity on sleep quality and executive functions in children with autism spectrum disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Autism.* 2019; 23(7), 1699-1710. doi: 10.1177/1362361318823910
- C.C.C. Mongkok Church Kai Oi School. *School Report 2020-2021*. https://drive.google.com/file/d/17wHbkFZFUiwyDq9NZAL5g6sCf9IS-gv2X/view. Accessed October 22, 2023.
- Shatin Public School. *Annual Report 2020-2021*. https://www.shatinpublicschool.edu.hk/download/document/202111301646281694198-1298023803.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.
- Po Leung Kuk Yu Lee Mo Fan Memorial School. *School Report 2020-2021*. http://www.plkylmf.edu.hk/publishing/2021/sch\_rep\_20-21.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.
- Evangelize China Fellowship Holy Word School. *Annual Report 2020-2021*. http://www.holyword.edu.hk/web2020/pdf/report/2021report.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

The Mental Health Association of Hong Kong - Cornwall School. *Annual Report 2018-2019*. https://www.mhahk-cws.edu.hk/it-school/ph-p/webcms/files/upload/tinymce/Publish/pm1819repo.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Po Leung Kuk Law's Foundation School. School Report 2019-2020. http://www.plklfs.edu.hk/CustomPage/24/SAR1920.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Census and Statistics Department. *Social data collected via the General Household Survey: Special Topics Report No.* 63 - Persons with disabilities and chronic diseases. https://www.censtatd.gov.hk/en/data/stat\_report/product/B1130121/att/B11301632021XXXXB0100.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Huang, W. Y., Wong, S. H., Sit, C. H., Wong, M. C., Wong, S. W., Ho, R. S. Results from the Hong Kong's 2022 report card on physical activity for children and adolescents. *Journal of Exercise Science & Fitness*. 2023; 21(1), 45-51. doi: 10.1016/j.jesf.2022.10.010

Aubert, S., Barnes, J. D., Demchenko, I., Hawthorne, M., Abdeta, C., Abi Nader, P., ... & Tremblay, M. S. Global Matrix 4.0 Physical Activity Report Card grades for children and adolescents: Results and analyses from 57 countries. *Journal of Physical Activity and Health*. 2022; 19 (11), 700-728. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2022-0456

Tremblay, M. S., Carson, V., Chaput, J. P., Connor Gorber, S., Dinh, T., Duggan, M., ... & Zehr, L. Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines for children and youth: an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism.* 2016; 41(6), S311-S327. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2016-0151

Siu, A. F., Lo, J. W. Promising effect of a family rugby programme for children with ADHD: Promoting parent-child relationship and perceptual change on child's behaviours. *Complementary Therapies in Clinical Practice*. 2020; 39, 101135. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2020.101135

Society of Boys' Centres. *School Report 2020-2021*. https://www.sbc.org.hk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/annualreport2020-21-2.pdf.

Accessed October 22, 2023.

Hong Kong Red Cross Margaret Trench School. *School Report 2020-2021*. https://www.mts.edu.hk/files/file/20211029/20211029112244 61606.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Hong Kong Red Cross Princess Alexandra School. *School Report 2020-2021*. https://www.pas.edu.hk/attachment/upload/About/2021annu-al%20report.pdf Accessed October 22, 2023.

HKSYC&IA Chan Nam Chong Memorial School. *School Report 2019-2020*. https://www.cncms.edu.hk/it-school/php/webcms/files/up-load/tinymce//workreport/2021/1920Schoolreport 1604045343.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Jockey Club "Sports without Limits" Youth Empowerment Programme. *The Hong Kong Jockey Club Charities Trust, 2018-2021.* https://sportswithoutlimits.hk/en/introduction. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Hong Kong Paralympic Committee & Sports Association for The Physically Disabled. *Reports and financial statements for the year ended.* https://www.hksapd.org/home/documents/2020/Audited%20Report%202019\_20\_HKPC&SAPD.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Hong Kong Blind Union. *Annual report 2019-2020.* https://www.hkbu.org.hk/uploads/files/Annual-Report-20201230070723-file\_en.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. *Public swimming pool monthly ticket scheme.* https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/en/beach/swim-in-tro/swim-ticket.html. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. *Annual report 2019-2020.* https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/dept/annualrpt/2019-20/en/leisure-services/sports-programmes. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Home Affairs Bureau. *Sports policy*. https://www.hab.gov.hk/en/policy\_responsibilities/sport\_policy/sport\_policy\_promoting.htm. Accessed October 22, 2023.

Hong Kong Baptist University & Dr Stephen Hui Research Centre for Physical Recreation and Wellness. *A consultancy study on sport for people with disabilities in Hong Kong*. Hong Kong Baptist University; 2016.

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. School sports programme application guide (special school). https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/en/ssp/form/pdf/application\_guide\_e.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. Sports training programme for persons with disabilities. https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/en/dl-so/sport\_training.html. Accessed October 22, 2023

Education Bureau. *Education Bureau circular letter LCQ9: Opening up school facilities for promotion of sports development scheme.* https://applications.edb.gov.hk/circular/upload/EDBCM/EDBCM19103C.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023

Curriculum Development Council. *Physical Education Key Learning Area Curriculum Guide (Primary 1 to Secondary 6).* https://www.edb.gov.hk/attachment/tc/curriculum-development/renewal/PE/PE\_KLACG\_P1-S6\_Chi\_2017.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023

Education Bureau. "Active Students, Active People" campaign. https://applications.edb.gov.hk/circular/upload/EDBCM/EDBCM21148C.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. *Healthy exercise for all campaign press release*. https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/en/healthy/index.html. Accessed October 22, 2023

Leisure and Cultural Services Department. Sport for all day 2019 promotes benefits of regular exercise. https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/clpss/en/webApp/NewsDetails.do?id=13912. Accessed October 22, 2023

Office of the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive's 2021 policy address: Building a bright future together. https://www.policyaddress.gov-hk/2021/eng/pdf/PA2021.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023

Leisure and Cultural Service Department. 2020-21 Estimated Expenditure. https://www.lcsd.gov.hk/en/common/images/en/doc/2020/HAB319C.pdf. Accessed October 22, 2023

## **Acknowledgement**

Both the short– and long–form of the **2022 Hong Kong Para Report Card** are accessible at our website: http://activehealthykidshongkong.com.hk

This Para Report Card was supported from the United College Endowment Fund Research Grant & Lee Hysan Foundation Research Grant Schemes 2022–23.

We are grateful to the contributions of the stakeholder group members and the Para Report Card designer (Mr. Sui Jinghao, CUHK MSc SSPA student).

